FILED

Court of Appeals

Division II

State of Washington

NO 1/2022 4:44 PM

(Formerly Court of Appeals No. 54997-2-II)

FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
10/24/2022
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

101395-7

# JERYMAINE BEASLEY,

Respondent,

VS.

# GEICO GENERAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Petitioner.

# APPEAL FROM CLARK COUNTY SUPERIOR COURT, Judge

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

1215 Fourth Avenue, Suite 1700 Seattle, WA 98161-1087 (206) 292-4900 REED McCLURE By Marilee C. Erickson WSBA #16144 Attorneys for Petitioner

# I. NATURE OF THE CASE

Washington's Insurance Fair Conduct Act ("IFCA") has been in effect for nearly 15 years. Until this year, no published appellate decision has addressed what the term "actual damages" means. In *Beasley v. GEICO*, Division II of the Court of Appeals concluded that RCW 48.30.015 actual damages include non-economic damages. Division II's decision conflicts with this Court's decisions. And Division II's decision deviates from established Washington jurisprudence that narrowly construes punitive damages and imposes punitive damages only in instances of intentional, willful conduct. This Court should accept review.

# II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Does Division II's decision that IFCA "actual damages" under RCW 48.30.015 include non-economic damages present an issue of substantial public interest which this Court should review?

- 2. Does Division II's decision that IFCA "actual damages" under RCW 48.30.015 include non-economic damages conflict with this Court's decisions of *Martini v. Boeing* and *Rasor v. Retail Credit Co.* which held that that punitive damages cannot be compensatory damages?
- 3. Does Division II's decision that IFCA "actual damages" under RCW 48.30.015 include non-economic damages conflict with this Court's *Segura v. Cabrera* decision and established rules of statutory construction?
- 4. Does Division II's decision that IFCA "actual damages" under RCW 48.30.015 includes non-economic damages for merely unreasonable conflict with this Court's decisions *White River Estates v. Hiltbruner; Birchler v. Castello Land Co.*, and *Hill v. Garda CL Nw., Inc.* which follow Washington's established jurisprudence that punitive damages are only permitted for intentional, willful conduct?
- 5. Does Division II's decision that a UIM settlement offer is an undisputed amount of benefits which constitutes an

IFCA violation as a matter of law rather than a question of fact for the jury conflict with this Court's decision in *Schmidt v*. *Coogan*?

# III. RELEVANT FACTS AND PROCEDURE

### A. THE OPINION.

Division II of the Court of Appeals issued its decision on September 20, 2022. The decision is published in part. A copy of the decision is attached as Appendix A.<sup>1</sup> The Court held that noneconomic damages are available under IFCA, reversed the trial court's related orders, and remanded for a new trial on noneconomic damages and further post-verdict proceedings consistent with the directions in the opinion. In the unpublished portion of its opinion, the Court denied the cross-appeal of GEICO.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> A copy of the Court of Appeals September 7, 2022, Order Granting in Part Motion for Reconsideration and Withdrawing [April 19, 2022] Opinion is attached as Appendix B, pursuant to RAP 13.4(c)(9).

# B. STATEMENT OF RELEVANT FACTS.

Jerymaine Beasley was injured in a January 8, 2014, motor vehicle accident while a passenger in a vehicle owned by Anar Askerov, a GEICO insured. (CP 2-3) The at-fault driver had liability limits of \$25,000. (RP 671)

Mr. Beasley submitted a UIM claim to GEICO seeking the \$100,000 per person UIMBI limits. (CP 246-250) GEICO reviewed the claim and offered \$10,000 in settlement. (RP 43-44, 355, 620, 663, 686, 688-89) Beasley's counsel asked GEICO to tender the "undisputed" amount of \$10,000. (RP 45) GEICO did not pay the settlement offer. *Id*.

The GEICO policy states in part regarding UIM:

# LOSSES WE WILL PAY

We will pay damages an **insured** is legally entitled to recover from the owner or operator of an **underinsured motor vehicle** due to:

1. **Bodily injury** sustained by that **insured** and caused by an **accident**; . . .

(CP 28) (boldface in original).

The policy also states:

# ARBITRATION: RESOLVING A DISAGREEMENT

- 1. If **you** and we do not agree . . . to the proper amount of such damages, the dispute may be resolved:
- (a) In a binding, voluntary arbitration proceeding . . . , or
- (b) By civil lawsuit brought by **you** in a court of competent jurisdiction.

(CP 29) (boldface in original).

Beasley sued GEICO. (CP 2-3) The case proceeded to a jury trial. The jury heard evidence regarding the accident and Beasley's accident-related injuries and the UIM claim handling. (RP 470-618, 620-739, 776-77, 800-804, 822, 851) Beasley's expert, Gary Williams testified that insurance companies should pay "undisputed amounts." (RP 353) Mr. Williams defined "undisputed amounts" as sums which an insurance company recognizes the "case is not going to go below." *Id.* Mr. Williams acknowledged that GEICO's \$10,000 offer was a settlement offer. (RP 355)

Beasley presented testimony from GEICO employees

Mike Murphy and Lawrence Bork. Mr. Murphy was the UIM

adjuster on Beasley's claim from February 27, 2015 to April 27, 2015. (RP 481-82) After reviewing the UIM demand, Mr. Murphy determined there was insufficient information to make an offer. (RP 512-513, 516, 531, 553) He requested additional information. (RP 533, 556-557, 560) Before GEICO had the information to make a settlement offer, the claim was assigned to adjuster Mr. Bork. (RP 574-75)

At trial, Mr. Murphy testified that GEICO usually did not pay the offer amount until there was "an agreed-upon amount." (RP 609, 616) Mr. Bork testified GEICO made a \$10,000 settlement offer but Beasley did not accept the offer, so there was a dispute about Beasley's claim value. (RP 662-63, 688-89) He was asked whether GEICO's \$10,000 offer was "undisputed UIM benefits." (RP 620) Mr. Bork testified the \$10,000 was an offer that was made. (RP 620)

Beasley moved for a determination as a matter of law that GEICO violated IFCA arguing the evidence was undisputed that "GEICO failed to pay undisputed UIM benefits and refused to

pay them as soon as possible." (RP 32) GEICO opposed Beasley's CR 50 motion because the offer was not an agreement of any amount owed. The \$10,000 was an offer, a compromise offer. (RP 35-36, 41-45) The October 23, 2015, letter from GEICO to Beasley's counsel extended a "settlement offer" to Beasley. (RP 43, 51-52) GEICO argued that because the evidence was disputed, the jury should decide whether the \$10,000 was an undisputed amount of benefits. (RP 36, 44, 46-49)

The trial court granted Beasley's motion and ruled as a matter of law that GEICO failed to pay undisputed benefits. (RP 54) The special verdict form included Question 2 which asked: "Do you find Plaintiff more probably-than-not proved that Defendant violated the Washington Insurance Fair Conduct Act?" (CP 178)

Before the case was submitted to the jury, (RP 4-6), the trial court concluded that non-economic damages were not recoverable under IFCA. (RP 4-14, 18-25) The jury rejected

Beasley's breach of contract claim. (CP 180) The jury found bad faith and IFCA and WAC violations. (CP 178-80) The jury awarded \$400,000 for bad faith and \$84,000 as actual damages under IFCA. <sup>2</sup> The trial court granted Beasley's request for treble IFCA damages. (CP 274-79)

Beasley appealed. Division II of the Court of Appeals issued its decision on September 20, 2022. Division II held that noneconomic damages are available under IFCA, reversed the trial court's related orders, and remanded for a new trial on noneconomic damages and further post-verdict proceedings consistent with the directions in the opinion. In the unpublished portion of its opinion, the Court denied the cross-appeal of GEICO. (App. A)

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> For the accident-related injuries, the jury awarded Beasley \$225,000 in non-economic damages and past medical expenses of \$36,495.95. The judge decided the medical expenses as a matter of law. (CP 187-90, RP 29)

## IV. ARGUMENT

This Court accepts review if one or more of the criteria set forth in RAP 13.4(b) is met. RAP 13.4(b) provides:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or

. . .

(4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b).

Division II's decision conflicts with this Court's decisions.

RAP 13.4(b)(1). This case also presents an issue of substantial public interest. RAP13.4(b)(4). Petitioner asks this Court to accept review.

A. WHETHER "ACTUAL DAMAGES" UNDER IFCA INCLUDE NON-ECONOMIC DAMAGES IS AN ISSUE OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST FOR THIS COURT TO DECIDE.

Nearly 15 years ago, IFCA was adopted through legislation which was ratified by the voters in Referendum 67. LAWS OF 2007, ch. 498, §3; Referendum Measure 67 (approved

Nov. 6, 2007). RCW 48.30.015(1) provides a cause of action to recover actual damages for an unreasonable denial of coverage or payment of benefits. "Actual damages" are not defined.

Until the 2022 *Beasley* decision, no Washington appellate court had tried to discern what IFCA "actual damages" are. IFCA is a matter of substantial public interest. From 2016 to 2020, the Office of Insurance Commissioner received 4,667 IFCA notices, an average of 933 annually. <a href="https://www.insurance.wa.gov/sites/default/files/documents/201">https://www.insurance.wa.gov/sites/default/files/documents/201</a> decide the issue of what IFCA "actual damages" are.

B. INTERPRETING IFCA ACTUAL DAMAGES AS NON-ECONOMIC DAMAGES CONFLICTS WITH THIS COURT'S DECISIONS OF *MARTINI V. BOEING* AND *RASOR V. RETAIL CREDIT CO.* THAT PUNITIVE DAMAGES CANNOT MEAN COMPENSATORY DAMAGES.

Division II's *Beasley* decision relies on this Court's decisions in *Martini v. Boeing* and *Rasor v. Retail Credit Co.*. In actuality, the *Beasley* decision conflicts with those decisions. In *Martini* and *Rasor*, this Court adopted the BLACK'S LAW

DICTIONARY definition of "actual damages." Actual damages are compensatory damages "distinguished from damages which are nominal, **exemplary or punitive**." *Martini v. Boeing*, 137 Wn.2d 357, 367, 971 P.2d 45 (1999). Because actual damages adopted in *Martini* and *Rasor* excluded punitive damages and IFCA is punitive, actual damages under IFCA cannot include non-economic damages.

The *Martini* and *Rasor* cases conflict with the *Beasley* decision. *Martini* v. *Boeing* was an employment discrimination lawsuit under RCW 49.60.180(3). The *Martini* court did not hold that actual damages included non-economic damages. A jury found plaintiff had been constructively discharged and awarded non-economic damages for pain, suffering, and emotional distress. The jury also awarded economic damages for medical expenses and front and back pay. Boeing appealed but did not challenge the non-economic damages or the medical expense award. The only issue on appeal was whether front and

back pay were allowed as actual damages for an employment discrimination claim.

The *Martini v. Boeing* court held that front and back pay were included in actual damages under RCW 49.60.180(3). "Thus RCW 49.60.030(2) provides a person who has been discriminated against in violation of RCW 49.60.180(3) with a remedy for full compensatory damages, excluding only nominal, exemplary or punitive damages." 137 Wn.2d at 357, 368, 971 P.2d 45 (1999) (emphasis added). The *Martini* court relied on the dictionary definition of actual damages cited in BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY and referred to Rasor v. Retail Credit Co., 87 Wn. 2d 516, 554 P.2d 1041 (1976)---actual damages are compensatory damages "distinguished from damages which are nominal, exemplary or punitive." 87 Wn.2d at 530 n.3 (emphasis added). 137 Wn.2d at 367.

To the extent the *Rasor* court decided that actual damages under the Fair Credit Reporting Act could include non-economic damages, the holding is distinguishable because that statute, like

the statute in *Martini*, does not permit punitive damages. Division II's decision does not address, and in fact ignores, that the actual damages dictionary definition in *Martini* and *Rasor* specifically excludes punitive damages. The dictionary definition of actual damages and the holdings of *Martini* and *Rasor* that actual damages encompass all economic and non-economic compensatory damages cannot apply to RCW 48.30.015, because RCW 48.30.015 is punitive. This Court should accept review.

# C. BEASLEY CONFLICTS WITH SEGURA V. CABRERA AND WASHINGTON'S ESTABLISHED RULES OF STATUTORY CONSTRUCTION.

The *Beasley* decision is also inconsistent with *Segura v*. *Cabrera*. A court's task in determining the meaning of a statute is to determine the legislative intent. A court has the duty to effectuate the Legislature's intent in enacting a statute. The Court must apply the language as the Legislature wrote it, not amend the statute by judicial construction. *Salts v. Estes*, 133 Wn.2d 160, 170, 943 P.2d 275 (1997).

In *Segura*, this Court did not abandon the established rules of statutory construction: determining legislative intent by harmonizing the whole language of the statute. This Court specifically stated that the court determines the intent of the legislature by beginning with the statute's plain language, reading the enactment as a whole, and "harmonizing its provisions by reading them in context with related provisions." 184 Wn.2d 587, 593, 362 P.3d 1278 (2015).

Division II overstates the holding in *Segura* by concluding that the *Segura* court abandoned "the intentional tort approach" of *White River Estates v. Hiltbruner*, 134 Wn.2d 761, 953 P.2d 796 (1998), to emotional distress damages. (Slip op. at 17) While the 4-justice concurring opinion expressed disagreement with the Court of Appeals' discussion of *Segura v. Cabrera* (184 Wn.2d 587, 602, n.6, 362 P.3d 1278 (2015)), the 5-justice *Segura* majority opinion specifically referred to the *White River* case, quoting: "Whether emotional distress damages are available following a statutory violation will depend on the language of the

particular statute at issue." *Segura*, 184 Wn.2d at 590-91, *quoting White River Estates*, 134 Wn.2d at 765. The *Segura* court did not abandon an intentional tort approach to statutory interpretation.

Applying the established rules of statutory construction and construing RCW 48.30.015 as a whole, and in the context of the body of Washington case law, actual damages under IFCA are limited to economic damages and do not include non-economic damages. This Court should accept review.

D. ALLOWING PUNITIVE DAMAGES FOR MERELY UNREASONABLE CONDUCT CONFLICTS WITH WHITE RIVER ESTATES V. HILTBRUNER, BIRCHLER V. CASTELLO LAND CO., AND HILL V. GARDA CL NW., INC., AND WASHINGTON'S ESTABLISHED JURISPRUDENCE THAT PUNITIVE DAMAGES ARE ONLY PERMITTED FOR INTENTIONAL, WILLFUL CONDUCT.

Penalty is the core purpose of IFCA. The proponents of IFCA unabashedly heralded the need to adopt IFCA to impose penalties. The Voters' Pamphlet "Statement for Referendum 67" at page 15 boldly declared:

... Without R-67, there is no penalty when insurers delay or deny valid claims. . . .

# APPROVE 67 – RIGHT NOW, THERE IS NO PENALTY FOR DELAYING OR DENYING YOUR VALID CLAIM.

R-67 encourages the Insurance Industry to treat legitimate insurance claims fairly. R-67 allows the court to assess penalties if an insurance company illegally delays or denies payment of a legitimate claim.

. . . .

# Rebuttal of Statement Against

Washington is one of only 5 states with no penalty when the Insurance Industry intentionally denies a valid claim.

The Voters' Pamphlet also specifically states that under pre-IFCA Washington law, no penalties are permitted. The Voters' Pamphlet, Explanatory Statement of the law as it presently exists states in part, at page 14:

Likewise, plaintiffs in Washington are not generally entitled to collect punitive damages or damages in excess of their actual loss (such as double or triple the amount of actual loss), unless a statute or contract specifically provides for such payment.

A copy of the 2007 Voter Pamphlet regarding Referendum Measure 67 is attached as Appendix C.

It is evident that a primary purpose of IFCA is to punish insurers for unreasonable conduct. There is no dispute that treble damages are punitive damages. *Birchler v. Castello Land Co*, 133 Wn.2d 106, 110, 942 P.2d 968 (1997). More recently, this Court stated:

"Exemplary damages" are synonymous with punitive damages. BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 692 (10th ed. 2014) (equating "exemplary damages" with "punitive damages"). Exemplary damages under RCW 49.52.070 are therefore designed to "punish and deter" an employer's blameworthy conduct, not to compensate the worker for harm caused by such conduct. *Morgan*, 141 Wn. App. at 161-62 (citing BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 418-19 (8th ed. 2004)).

Hill v. Garda CL Nw., Inc., 191 Wn.2d 553, 573, 424 P.3d 207, 217 (2018).

Exemplary damages are intended to punish and deter "blameworthy conduct." *Morgan v. Kingen*, 141 Wn. App. 143, 161-62, 169 P.3d 487 (2007) (interpreting willful failure to pay wages under RCW 49.25.050/.070). *See also Brown v. MHN Gov't Servs., Inc.*, 178 Wn.2d 258, 276-278, 306 P.3d 948 (2013), J. Gonzalez concurring opinion. The federal court has

recognized the punitive nature of IFCA. *HHS Enters., LLC v. AMCO Ins. Co.*, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 11275, \*9, 2008 WL 312695 (W.D. Wash. 2008) (IFCA not retroactive because it creates a new cause of action which imposes a penalty).

The punitive nature of IFCA cannot be reconciled with an interpretation of "actual damages" that includes unlimited non-economic damages. As this Court noted in *Birchler*, punitive statutes are interpreted narrowly. 133 Wn.2d at 110. Beasley has not interpreted IFCA narrowly.

Under IFCA, treble damages can be assessed for merely unreasonable behavior. Such unbridled discretion to award punitive damages is inconsistent with fundamental notions of due process. In other statutory contexts, damages can only be trebled for intentional or willful conduct. *See e.g. State v. Grocery Mfrs. Ass'n*, 195 Wn.2d 442, 474-76, 461 P.2d 334 (2020) (treble, punitive damages under the Fair Campaign Practices Act permitted only for intentional violations). *See also White River Estates v. Hiltbruner*, 134 Wn.2d 761, 953 P.2d 796

(1998); *Birchler* (treble damages for willful trespass under RCW 64.12.030). RCW 49.52.050 (exemplary damages when employer willfully refuses to pay wages); *see Schilling v. Radio Holdings, Inc.*, 136 Wn.2d 152, 158, 961 P.2d 371 (1998).<sup>3</sup> "A hundred-year succession of Washington cases supports damages for emotional distress arising from intentional torts such as trespass generally." *Birchler*, 133 Wn. 2d at 117. Here, where the IFCA statute is punitive and does not require intentional conduct to award treble damages, the statutory meaning of "actual damages" cannot include non-economic damages. This Court should accept review.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Similarly, emotional distress, non-economic damages are not allowed for violation of the Product Liability Act because the statute could be violated for "considerably less than" intentional conduct. *Wash. State Physicians Ins. & Exch. Ass'n v. Fisons Corp.*, 122 Wn.2d 299, 321, 858 P.2d 1054 (1993).

E. WHERE THERE WAS EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT A VERDICT OF NO IFCA VIOLATION, DIVISION II'S DECISION AFFIRMING BEASLEY'S CR 50 MOTION CONFLICTS WITH SCHMIDT V. COOGAN.

Division II's holdings on GEICO cross-appeal start from the premise that the \$10,000 offer was an undisputed amount of benefits that were owed. Admittedly the testimony could support that conclusion. Nevertheless, the jury, not the judge, should have made that determination. When a party moves for judgment as a matter of law under CR 50, "the truth of the opponent's evidence and all reasonable inferences that can be drawn from it" are admitted. *Tapio Inv. Co. I v. State*, 196 Wn. App. 528, 538, 384 P.3d 600 (2016), *rev. denied*, 187 Wn.2d 1024 (2017).

In *Schmidt v. Coogan*, 162 Wn. 2d 488, 173 P.3d 273 (2007), this Court reversed a judgment as a matter of law in a legal malpractice case. This Court recognized the established rule in Washington that the jury, not the court, decides the case when evidence produced by the non-moving party produces facts that would allow a reasonable person to find for the non-moving

party. 162 Wn. 2d at 492-93. Division II's decision conflicts with the holding of *Schmidt v. Coogan*.

Division II impermissibly decided factual issues and discounted the facts that allow the jury to find that the \$10,000 offer was not an agreed amount of benefits owed. The \$10,000 was a settlement offer. Mr. Bork's testimony referred to the \$10,000 as an offer. He did not admit that the amount was undisputed. He did not admit that \$10,000 was owed. (RP 688-89) Mr. Bork's testimony and the policy language provide evidence and reasonable inferences from the evidence that the amount of the damages had not been determined. The amount of damages remained disputed and GEICO was not required to pay the amount of its offer. The evidence at trial was disputed on whether the \$10,000 offer was an agreed amount of benefits owed to Beasley.

Mr. Bork testified a \$10,000 offer was made to plaintiff. (RP 662-63) Plaintiff's counsel did not accept the offer. (RP 688-89) There was a dispute about the value of plaintiff's UIM

claim. (RP 688-89) He was asked whether GEICO's \$10,000 offer was "undisputed UIM benefits." (RP 620) While Mr. Bork testified that GEICO did not dispute that \$10,000 in benefits were owed (RP 621), there was no testimony establishing that GEICO was required to pay the amount of benefits. In fact, Mr. Murphy testified that GEICO generally did not pay offers until there was an "agreed-upon amount" (RP 616) which is consistent with the policy provisions that if GEICO and the insured do not agree on the "proper amount of such damages, the dispute may be resolved: (a) [i]n a binding, voluntary arbitration ... of (b) [b]y civil lawsuit ..." (CP 29)

Taking the testimony of Mr. Bork and Mr. Murphy, along with the policy language, as true and in the light most favorable to GEICO, (*Tapio Inv. Co. v. State*, 196 Wn. App. at 538), the jury could have concluded that the \$10,000 offer amount was both disputed and was not owed. Division II's affirmance of the trial court's CR 50 motion takes as true Beasley's evidence and the view of Beasley's counsel that the \$10,000 offer was an

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