FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/21/2022 1:14 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

Supreme Court No. 1013957 Court of Appeals No. 54997-2-II Clark Co. Superior Court Cause No. 16-2-00320-0

WASHINGTON STATE SUPREME COURT

# JERYMAINE BEASLEY,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

VS.

# GEICO GENERAL INSURANCE COMPANY,

Defendant-Petitioner.

### ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

George M. Ahrend WSBA #25160 Ahrend Law Firm PLLC 457 1st Ave. NW P.O. Box 816 Ephrata, WA 98823-0816 (206) 467-6090

george@luveralawfirm.com

Terence F. Traverso WSBA #21178 Law Offices of Terence F. Traverso PS 1408 140th Pl. NE, Ste. 140 Bellevue, WA 98007-3964 (425) 453-0115

assistant1@traversolaw.com

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

## ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A. Division II's interpretation of "actual damages" under IFCA as including noneconomic compensatory damages is required by this Court's precedent.

GEICO claims that review is warranted because Division II's interpretation of IFCA conflicts with no fewer than six decisions of this Court, none of which involve the interpretation of IFCA. In actuality, there are no conflicts. Division II's interpretation of IFCA was required under the analysis set forth by this Court in *Segura*, and the remaining decisions cited by

GEICO have already been harmonized or distinguished in Segura.

# 1. Division II's interpretation of IFCA is required by this Court's decision in Segura.

GEICO claims that Division II's decision is "inconsistent with Segura" for reasons that are not clearly stated. Pet. for Rev. at 13. In Segura, this Court held the meaning of statutory language authorizing recovery of "actual damages" hinges upon the nature of the interest the statute in question is designed to protect. 184 Wn.2d at 594-96. Where the statute is intended to provide "redress for a personal injury" or "guard against harm to the person," recoverable actual damages include noneconomic damages. Id. (discussing Rasor v. Retail Credit Co., 87 Wn.2d 516, 554 P.2d 1041 (1976), and Martini v. Boeing Co., 137 Wn.2d 357, 971 P.2d 45 (1999)). Where the statute is merely intended to provide for the recovery of "financial losses," recoverable actual damages do not include noneconomic damages. Id. at 596 (brackets added).

Segura recognized that noneconomic damages are recoverable as "actual damages" under the federal Fair Credit Reporting Act (FCRA) at issue in *Rasor*, and the Washington Law Against Discrimination (WLAD) at issue in *Martini*, because these statutes remedy personal harm. Segura, 184 Wn.2d at 594-95. The FCRA "protect[s] an individual from inaccurate or arbitrary information about himself in a consumer report that is being used as a factor in determining the individual's eligibility for credit, insurance or employment." *Id.* at 594 (quoting *Rasor*). The WLAD protects the "rights and proper privileges" of persons to be free from discrimination. *Id.* (quoting RCW 49.60.010).

For the same reasons that noneconomic damages are recoverable as "actual damages" under the FCRA and WLAD, they are also recoverable under IFCA. The purpose of IFCA is "protecting insureds." *Perez-Crisantos v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.*, 187 Wn.2d 669, 679, 389 P.3d 476 (2017). "Insurance contracts are unique in nature and purpose." *National Surety*, 176 Wn.2d at 878 (quotation omitted). "An insured does not enter an

insurance contract seeking profit, but instead seeks security and peace of mind through protection against calamity." Id. "The bargained-for peace of mind comes from the assurance that the insured will receive prompt payment of money in times of need." Id. This is precisely why IFCA authorizes recovery of actual damages resulting from unreasonable denial of a claim for payment of benefits by insurer. coverage or an RCW 48.30.015(1). If actual damages under IFCA were interpreted to *exclude* noneconomic damages, then the remedy provided by the statute would not redress the very personal injury the statute is intended to redress. Division II's decision interpreting actual damages to *include* noneconomic damages is therefore required under Segura, and there is no conflict.

# 2. Division II's interpretation of IFCA follows Segura's synthesis of Rasor and Martini.

GEICO claims that Division II's interpretation of IFCA conflicts with this Court's decisions in *Rasor* and *Martini*. Pet. for Rev. at 10-13. GEICO does not acknowledge *Segura's* 

synthesis of *Rasor* and *Martini*, on which Division II relied. *Beasley*, 517 P.3d at 516. Instead, GEICO claims that Division II's conflicts with *Rasor* and *Martini* based upon non sequitur reasoning that actual damages recoverable under IFCA cannot include noneconomic as well as economic damages because such actual damages are potentially subject to trebling. Pet. for Rev. at 11 ("Because actual damages adopted in *Martini* and *Rasor* excluded punitive damages and IFCA is punitive, actual damages under IFCA cannot include non-economic damages").

Aside from the fact that GEICO's reasoning appears nowhere in *Rasor* or *Martini*—nor in *Segura*, which harmonized *Rasor* and *Martini*—GEICO's reasoning is flawed because actual damages recoverable under IFCA are distinct from treble damages. Actual damages are awarded by the jury, whereas treble damages are awarded by the court. *Beasley*, 517 P.3d at 518. The jury's award of actual damages does not automatically entitle the insured to recover treble damages. *Id.* And, although the amount of treble damages is obviously based on actual

damages and capped by a multiple of actual damages, the court has discretion in fixing the amount within this cap. *Id.* (noting RCW 48.30.015(2) states that the superior court "*may* ... increase the total award of damages to an amount not to exceed three times the actual damages"; emphasis in original).

Moreover, the availability of treble damages under IFCA does not render the statute "punitive." The Consumer Protection Act (CPA), Ch. 19.86 RCW, is deemed to be a remedial statute, notwithstanding its treble damages remedy. *Johnston v. Beneficial Mgmt. Corp. of Am.*, 85 Wn.2d 637, 641, 538 P.2d 510 (1975); *Rufin v. City of Seattle*, 199 Wn. App. 348, 363, 398 P.3d 1237 (2017), *rev. denied*, 189 Wn.2d 1034 (2018); *Ewing v. Glogowski*, 198 Wn. App. 515, 525, 394 P.3d 418 (2017); *Cedar Grove Composting, Inc. v. City of Marysville*, 188 Wn. App. 695, 732, 354 P.3d 249 (2015).

Like the CPA, IFCA is a remedial statute, notwithstanding the availability of treble damages. A remedial statute is one that relates to practice, procedures, and remedies. *Faciszewski v*.

*Brown*, 187 Wn.2d 308, 320, 386 P.3d 711, 718 (2016). IFCA is a remedial statute because it "makes no insurer conduct illegal that was lawful the day before the statute took effect." Isaac Ruiz, The IFCA Handbook § 14 at 34 (2019). It imposes a procedural requirement to provide 20 days' pre-suit notice with an opportunity for the insurer "to resolve the basis for the action." RCW 48.30.015(8)(b). It also creates a remedy to recover actual damages, which may or may not be trebled by the court. RCW 48.30.015(1) & (2). As Division II noted, the pre-suit notice requirement and the discretionary nature of punitive damages undercut GEICO's characterization of IFCA as a punitive statute. Beasley, 517 P.3d at 515. In any event, "the punitive aspects of the legislation also serve as a deterrent purpose that may provide insureds with additional protection" and thereby serve a remedial purpose. *Id*.

# 3. White River is distinguishable from this case for the same reason it was distinguished by the Court in Segura.

GEICO claims that Division II's interpretation of IFCA conflicts with this Court's decision in White River Estates v. Hiltbruner, 134 Wn.2d 761, 953 P.2d 796 (1998). Pet. For Rev. at 14-15 & 18-19. In White River, the Court held "when a statute is *silent* about the damages available for its violation, emotional distress damages are available only if the statutory violation requires conduct amounting to an intentional tort, as opposed to mere negligence." Segura, 184 Wn.2d at 602 n.6 (discussing White River; emphasis in original). However, White River is distinguishable from this case for the same reason the Court distinguished the case in Segura: the intentional-versusnegligent test for the recovery of noneconomic damages does not apply to statutes that explicitly provide for the recovery of actual damages. Id. at 602 n.6 (stating White River's "intentionalversus-negligent test does not apply to the RLTA [i.e., Residential Landlord Tenant Act], which explicitly describes the

damages recoverable for a landlord's violation"); *id.* at 591 (noting the RLTA, RCW 59.18.085(2), authorizes recovery of "actual damages"). Because IFCA explicitly provides for the recovery of actual damages, this case is distinguishable from *White River* for the same reason that *Segura* was distinguishable. Division II was required to follow *Segura* in making the same distinction, which means there is no conflict.

# 4. Division II's decision does not otherwise conflict with *Birchler*, *Hill*, or *White River*.

GEICO claims that Division II's interpretation of IFCA conflicts with *Birchler v. Castello Land Co.*, 133 Wn.2d 106, 942 P.2d 968 (1997), *Hill v. Garda CL Nw., Inc.*, 191 Wn.2d 553, 424 P.3d 207 (2018), and *White River, supra*, characterizing these decisions as holding that "punitive damages are only permitted for intentional, willful conduct." Pet. for Rev. at 15-19. Regardless of whether GEICO's characterization of these decisions is correct, it is irrelevant because, as GEICO concedes, IFCA authorizes an award of treble damages for "merely

unreasonable behavior." *Id.* at 18. "Any first party claimant to a policy of insurance who is unreasonably denied a claim for coverage or payment of benefits by an insurer may bring an action in the superior court of this state to recover the actual damages sustained[.]" RCW 48.30.015(1) (emphasis & brackets added). "The superior court may, after finding that an insurer has acted *unreasonably* in denying a claim for coverage or payment of benefits ... increase the total award of damages to an amount not to exceed three times the actual damages." RCW 48.30.015(2) (emphasis & ellipsis added). The availability of treble damages for less-than-intentional conduct has never been raised as an issue in this case, nor was it addressed by Division II.

In any event, none of the decisions cited by GEICO supports its characterization. *Birchler* noted that damages including emotional distress could be recovered and trebled for intentional trespass under the timber trespass statute, RCW 64.12.030. *Birchler*, 133 Wn.2d at 117 n.5. However,

nothing in *Birchler* precludes imposition of punitive damages for unintentional conduct in all circumstances.

Hill noted that an employee could recover double the amount of withheld wages under RCW 49.52.050 & .070 based on mere carelessness or error. 191 Wn.2d at 561. In this way, Hill actually supports imposition of punitive damages for unintentional conduct.

Finally, *White River* did not address punitive damages, although the opinion cited *Birchler*. 134 Wn.2d at 767. There is no conflict with these decisions.

B. Because Division II followed this Court's precedent as well as the language, purpose and remedial nature of IFCA, there is no need for this Court to revisit Division II's decision under the guise of an issue of substantial public interest.

GEICO argues that review is warranted on grounds that the interpretation of IFCA involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court under RAP 13.4(b)(4). Pet. for Rev. at 9-10. While IFCA undoubtedly serves an important public interest, there is no need for this Court

to revisit Division II's interpretation of the Act because Division II carefully followed this Court's precedent. An issue of first impression does not, ipso facto, warrant review by this Court.

In addition, Division II's interpretation of IFCA accurately reflects the language, purpose, and remedial nature of the statute. "[N]othing in IFCA specifies the type of damages envisioned by the legislature or suggests any limitation on damages." *Beasley*, 517 P.3d at 516 (brackets added). "[T]he legislative history discloses that IFCA was intended to provide additional protections and avenues for relief for insureds." *Id.* (brackets added). The language and legislative purpose indicate that "the legislature intended 'actual damages' under IFCA to be interpreted broadly and to include noneconomic damages." *Id.* "[A]llowing noneconomic damages comports with the purpose of protecting insureds against unfair conduct by insurers." *Id.* 

# C. Division II's affirmance of the partial directed verdict against GEICO in the unpublished portion of its opinion does not conflict with *Schmidt*.

GEICO claims that Division II's affirmance of the partial directed verdict conflicts with this Court's per curiam decision in Schmidt v. Coogan, 162 Wn.2d 488, 173 P.3d 273 (2007). Pet. For Rev. at 20-24. Schmidt stands for the uncontroversial proposition that the evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party on a motion for directed verdict. 162 Wn.2d at 491-92. Division II correctly applied this settled precedent to the facts of this case. In answer to the complaint, and in testimony from its own adjuster and supervisor, GEICO admitted that \$10,000 UIM benefits were not disputed and that failure to tender undisputed UIM benefits violates applicable insurance standards. RP 620:19-621:10, 621:19-622:3 & 616:18-617:3. "Geico presented no contrary evidence," as Division II noted. *Beasley*, 517 P.3d at 519. There is no basis for further review of this issue.<sup>1</sup>

## REQUEST FOR ATTORNEY FEES AND COSTS

IFCA authorizes the Court to "award reasonable attorneys' fees and actual and statutory litigation costs" to an insured who prevails. RCW 48.30.015(3). The superior court and Division II awarded fees and costs pursuant to this provision. Slip op. at 35-36. This Court should also award fees and costs incurred in responding to GEICO's petition for review. RAP 18.1(a).

### CONCLUSION

Beasley asks the Court to deny GEICO's Petition for Review and to order GEICO to pay Beasley's attorney fees and costs.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Before this Court, GEICO denies that "the amount was undisputed," Pet. for Rev. at 21, but before Division II, GEICO admitted that it "did not dispute that those benefits were owed," GEICO Br. at 6.

# **RAP 18.17 CERTIFICATE**

This document contains 4,064 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.